

Table of Contents

Executive summary	3
Executive summaryIntroduction	3
Aim	3
Review of Literature	4
Inclusion	5
Diversity	6
Conceptualisation of diversity	6
Diversity is a complex and multidimensional concept which leads to ambiguous results	6
Personnel selection systems and diversity	7
The diversity-validity dilemma	
DEI Initiatives and Training	7
Recommendations	8
Conclusions and practical implications	8
References	9
Nerel el cecommunitation de la constantination de la constantinat	

Executive summary

This literature review presents and examines recent research on inclusion and diversity (studies published 2023-2024). Themes found cover team diversity, inclusive leadership, inclusive workplaces, DEI initiatives/training, and the diversity-validity dilemma in personnel selection. The results emphasize the positive impact of inclusion on work performance, whereas diversity effects remain inconclusive.

The main observations are:

- Diversity remains complex and difficult for researchers to study as it has so many dimensions. The demonstrated effects of diversity per se are inconclusive.
- Inclusion is generally perceived as a more straightforward concept that research indicate as valuable for performance.
- Inclusion (and so in the end diversity) can be enhanced by recruitment and training processes.

The review thus highlights the need for prioritising inclusion to enhance organizational outcomes, promoting inclusive leadership and inclusive workplaces to successfully reap the benefits of diversity.

The MU stance on inclusion and diversity, as well as the conclusions from the previous review on research on inclusion and diversity (Jonsson, 2023b), find support in this review.

Introduction

In recruitment and selection assignments the prioritised task for MU is to contribute to client result through finding the candidates that will be successful in a specific position in a specific context. An important precondition for a successful recruitment process is to ensure the inclusion of a large group of plausible candidates in the candidate pool that in the selection process can match the requirements for success in the specific position in the specific context. Such an inclusive recruitment process will both increase the base rate in the candidate pool and have a positive effect on diversity (Jonsson, 2023a). Inclusion is in this context a necessity for successful leader recruitment, and it also brings diversity in the candidate pool and among the selected leaders (Mercuri Urval, 2022).

Studies have shown that there is a relationship between inclusion, deep-level diversity, and work performance. In this report, recent research in the topic is summarised. It explores the relationship between inclusion, diversity, and performance, and similar to the previous review (Jonsson, 2023b) the recent studies show that diversity alone is not enough. While a workplace or organization may be diverse, it might not be inclusive. Organizations that have representation from different groups but only value or empower the perspectives of certain groups may be diverse but lack true inclusivity. The scientific studies, just like MU state that inclusion should come first. When inclusion takes precedence and is coupled with equitable treatment, diversity naturally follow (see e.g., Russen & Dawson, 2024).

Aim

This literature review updates the publication "Research on Inclusion and Diversity, 2020-2022" (Jonsson 2023b) with what has been published the last two years (2023-2024).

Review of Literature

The literature review focused on inclusion and diversity in scientific, peer-reviewed journals published between 2023 and 2024, and emphasized contexts related to work, business, management, leadership, and recruitment. ¹

Most articles found in the review (834 articles with 124 marked as relevant) concentrated on board diversity, team diversity, inclusive leadership and inclusive workplaces. After reading abstracts, the articles were classified based on perceived relevance. Articles on team diversity, inclusive leadership, inclusive workplaces, DEI initiatives/training, and the diversity-validity dilemma in selection were perceived as most relevant and make up the themes of this study.

Until 2024, there was a yearly increase in the number of publications on both inclusion and diversity. This is particularly notable for articles on inclusion. For example, the number of peer-reviewed articles with "inclusi*" as identifier (cf. keyword) in the PsychArticles database doubled from 2023 to 2024 and viewed from a ten-year perspective the number of publications has doubled six times.

Many of the literature reviews mention the increase in publications. For example, Zattoni et al. (2023) reviewed 184 studies and found a growing literature since 2007, likely due to the increasing impact of social movements and the diffusion of quota laws or good governance codes' recommendations promoting board (gender) diversity.

The timing of this review is critical as it precedes the potential effects of the Trump administration's ban on DEI initiatives and studies. Under the Trump administration, programs designed to increase the representation of underrepresented groups have been cancelled and recruitment initiatives have been modified or discontinued. The New York Times (Yourish et al., 2025) compiled over 200 words that the Trump administration is actively trying to erase from federal documents, websites, and communications, including DEI terms like "diversity," "equality," "inclusion," alongside basic scientific and demographic concepts such as "race," "ethnicity," "minority," and "women."

The language cleansing particularly impacts universities and research institutions. Research applications containing words from the prohibited list are automatically flagged for special review, potentially leading to rejections based on word choice rather than scientific quality (Yourish et al., 2025). It has also been mentioned that published works may be withdrawn from databases

¹ inclusi* OR divers* were searched as keywords, in titles, or in abstracts. The astrerix enable different endings to the words, such as inclusion, inclusive. The primary focus was on reviews (systematic literature reviews) and meta-analyses/studies. Seven databases were scanned, with most relevant articles found in PsychArticles, Web of Science, and Wiley (other databases scanned were Political Science Complete, Sage, Science Direct, and Taylor & Francis). The review was conducted in February-March 2025.

Inclusion

Inclusion is about the degree to which a person feels a sense of belonging to groups as well as feeling unique relative to other group members (Shore et al., 2011). Inclusion is defined as occurring when "individuals of all backgrounds - not just members of historically powerful identity groups- are fairly treated, valued for who they are, and included in core decision-making" (Nishii, 2013, p. 1754, in Randel, 2025). Workplace inclusion can be defined as being accepted, treated equally, integrated in decision-making processes, and being able to express oneself authentically (Dhanani et al., 2024).

As stated above, the literature on inclusion in the workplace and inclusive leadership has increased over time. During 2023-2024 several articles examined the relation between inclusive leadership and performance (or other outcomes) (e.g., Cin & Sönmez, 2024; Eshete & Birbirssa, 2024; Hundschell et al., 2024; Li et al., 2024; Nguyen et al., 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2025; Russen & Dawson, 2024; Shafaei & Nejati, 2023; Woods et al., 2024).

Inclusive leadership has been found to impact:

- Task performance
- Team performance
- Team resilience
- Organizational citizen behaviour
- Creativity
- Work engagement
- Retention (negative relation with turnover intention)
- Psychological safety
- Openness to diversity

The relation between inclusive leadership and the above factors may be influenced by:

- Psychological safety
- Psychological empowerment
- Perceived inclusion
- Organizational identification
- Leader-member exchange

Several of the studies suggest that inclusive leadership is important for developing psychological safety and diversity (e.g., Nguyen et al., 2024; Woods et al., 2024). Randel (2025) presents a holistic framework for inclusion, incorporating a feedback loop from output back to input and context for inclusion, which serves as new stimuli.

In a review of inclusion in the workplace, the authors (Nguyen et al., 2024) suggest that hiring and training leaders with characteristics of inclusive leadership can facilitate a culture of inclusion. Hiring, educating, and coaching leaders to be inclusive will also lead to more successful (Nguyen et al., 2024) and attractive (Satzger & Vogel, 2023) workplaces.

The literature on the effects of inclusion has generally been overwhelmingly positive. However, efforts to conceptualize and consider inclusion from a more comprehensive perspective are emerging (e.g., Nguyen et al., 2024; Randel, 2025), and to unpack the concept of inclusion as a multi-layered, multi-faceted approach just as the conceptualisation of diversity (Nguyen et al., 2024; Shore & Chung, 2024). There is also criticism on DEI (diversity, equity and inclusion) research for not separating the three variables in studies (Russen & Dawson, 2023). They are different concepts and should be addressed as such (Roberson, 2006).

Diversity

Conceptualisation of diversity

Unlike inclusion, diversity has long been seen as a multidimensional concept. The numerous definitions and sometimes the lack of definitions have led to ambiguous results when studying the effect of diversity (see more in Jonsson, 2023b and below).

This review examines if the concept and definition of diversity has changed from the previous report (Jonsson, 2023b) and finds that it remains quite stable. The separation of surface-level and deep-level diversity is still widely used in the literature, while some studies use the concept of demographic diversity to describe surface-level diversity (e.g., Behlau et al., 2024; Traylor et al., 2024; Wallrich et al., 2024) and cognitive diversity to describe personality traits, education level and the variety of experiences and qualifications (cf. deep-level diversity) (e.g., Behlau et al., 2024; Wallrich et al., 2024).

The terminology of Harrsion and Klein (2007) with diversity as separation, variety, and disparity is used as a framework in studies as Wallrich et al. (2024), which include studies of variety and separation, and in Zattoni et al. (2023). Zattoni et al. categorized 184 articles and found that many studies only focus variety, and that the most common category in studies is gender (Zattoni et al., 2023).

Diversity is a complex and multidimensional concept which leads to ambiguous results

The multidimensional characteristic of diversity leads to mixed and ambiguous results regarding the outcome of diversity. The causes of these mixed, ambiguous and insubstantial results are often attributed to methodological limitations, such as neglecting the intersection between surface-level and deep-level diversity (Tonoyan & Olson-Buchanan, 2023) or using a singular theoretical perspective (Laique et al., 2023). Some researchers also suggest non-linear relationships, usually an inverted U shape² (see e.g., Traylor et al., 2024; Wallrich et al., 2024).

Wallrich et al. (2024) provides a possible explanation to the ambiguous results; they write that the diversity-performance nexus has been shaped by two competing theories: social identity theory (in-group, out-group) and approaches that focus on cognitive resources. These conflicting expectations may lead to conflicting results, where social identity theory may expect more conflicts, and the focus on cognitive resources may expect increased performance due to the broader range of ideas. Wallrich et al. (2024) criticize many previous meta-analyses for failing to distinguish where diversity should have a positive impact from those with a negative impact, leaving boundary conditions unclear.

Wallrich et al. (2024) summarise the literature in a reproducible registered report meta-analysis on the relationship between diversity and team performance (615 reports, 2638 effect sizes). They found an average linear relationship between three different types of diversity (demographic, job-related and cognitive), and team performance. The results were significant and positive but insubstantial. They also found that context matters; the correlations were more positive when the tasks were higher in complexity. They conclude that diversity does not substantially improve team performance, but it is more likely that diversity provides (minimal) benefits rather than harms on average. Likewise, Roberson et al. (2024) summarize the literature on top management teams and diversity as complex, and noting it comes with challenges but generally it is beneficial.

² Meaning that until a certain level the performance increase with an increased diversity, but beyond that level the performance decrease with an increased diversity.

Zattoni et al. (2023) who reviewed 184 studies on board diversity and firm outcomes, found that despite a growing body of literature the results are still partial and inconclusive. The mixed empirical evidence has led scholars to argue that board diversity is a double-edged sword producing both positive and negative effects. The lack of conclusive results may be attributed both to the complexity of the board diversity concept and to the theoretical and methodological choices.

The double-edged sword phenomena was reported in the previous review (Jonsson, 2023b) and partially explained by different operationalizations and definitions of diversity. Zattoni et al. (2023) found that most research focuses on a specific type of diversity, such as gender diversity. Since diversity is multidimensional, considering only one of few diversity dimensions may bias the results. The review of Zattoni et al. (2023) showed that most studies have explicitly or implicitly viewed diversity as variety, using the categorisation of Harrison and Klein (2007). The majority of studies explore the surface-level demographic diversity of directors, with gender being the most common (51% of all studies).

Personnel selection systems and diversity

Recent research has explored the interaction between personnel selection systems and diversity (e.g. Berry, 2024; Berry et al., 2024; Van Iddekinge, et al., 2023). Van Iddekinge, et al. (2023) reviewed key questions and findings in the selection literature; spanning 75 years of the journal Personnel Psychology. They focus on selection procedure development, administration, and scoring decisions in personnel selection that can affect validity, diversity, and the applicant experience.

The diversity-validity dilemma

Many of the selection predictors with the greatest validities e.g., general mental ability (see e.g., Sackett et al., 2022) also exhibit the largest racial/ethnic subgroup mean differences (Berry, 2024; Sackett et al., 2023). Some studies try to address the dilemma by predictor weights (adjusting the level of impact in the analysis) (Van Iddekinge et al., 2023; Wee et al., 2023), and/or with new strategies and technologies, such as using machine learning (Rottman et al., 2023; Van Iddekinge et al., 2023).

Surprisingly few articles discuss variations within groups. A general observation in the study of individual differences is that variations within a group are often greater than the differences between groups.

DEI Initiatives and Training

Some of the literature covers DEI training and other initiatives and provides guidelines on how to implement DEI actions effectively to avoid unintended consequences. There have been instances where such initiatives have backfired, undermining the sense of belonging (e.g., Burnett & Aguinis, 2024; Georgeac & Rattan, 2023; Kawasaki & Zou, 2023; Leslie et al., 2025).

³ Harrison and Klein (2007) conceptualised diversity into separation, variety and disparity, where separation refers to differences in position or opinion (cf. horizontal distance on a continuum), variety to differences in kind or category (e.g., experience or functional background), and disparity to differences in concentration of assets or resources, such as pay or status (cf. vertical differences).

Nevertheless, the literature shows that the long-term benefits provided by DEI initiatives far outweigh any short-term risks (Nittrouer et al., 2025). Other researchers state that diversity training is generally effective, although moderate in size, and conclude that the effects of diversity training may depend on several cultural values (Kawasaki & Zou, 2023). Leslie et al. (2025) are more nuanced and conclude that "diversity initiatives will only be effective if designed in ways that maximize their intended consequences and minimize unintended ones".

Recommendations

Below is a summary of recommendations articulated in the articles to enhance inclusion and diversity in the recruitment, selection, and retention processes.

Recruitment and Selection

- Urge investors and nomination committees to carefully consider company characteristics when selecting new directors (Zattoni et al., 2023).
- Broaden engagement in targeted recruitment (Burnett & Aguinis, 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2025).
- Extend the shortlist to promote non-prototypical candidates (see Lucas et al., 2021 in Cerventez & Milkman, 2024).
- Use bias-free language in job descriptions and advisements (Heath et al., 2023; Nittrouer et al., 2025).
- Use structured interviews (Nittrouer et al., 2025).

Retention

- Promote inclusive leadership (Li et al., 2024; Nguyen et al., 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2025).
- Implement (context-conscious) diversity training (Burnett & Aguinis, 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2025).
- Integrate diversity training into different types of training programs (Burnett & Aguinis, 2024; Kawasaki & Zou, 2023).
- Create DEI accountability structures (and secure top management support) (Burnett & Aguinis, 2024).
- Assess the inclusion climate beyond representation (Burnett & Aguinis, 2024).

Conclusions and practical implications

The conclusions drawn in the review on Inclusion and Diversity 2023 (Jonsson, 2023b) remain valid. The number of scientific publications on inclusion and diversity continues to grow. The documented effects of inclusion on organisational results are consistently positive, whereas the effects of diversity, per se, are ambiguous and inconclusive. This corroborates the observation that inclusion is the significant element for organisational result in personnel selection as well as in leadership. Inclusive personnel selection processes, inclusive leadership, and an inclusive workplace have positive effects on organisational results and may enable the benefits of diversity.

An important implication of the research on inclusion and diversity in recruitment and selection processes and discourse resulting from the diversity-validity dilemma is that it is important that only predictors assessed as relevant for the success in the position within the given context should be used. Using irrelevant predictors not only affects the validity of the prediction but also creates a selection process that is unfair and not inclusive.

MU Leader Selection Science® in the work with clients has solid support in the research. The MU emphasis of inclusion, transparency, fairness and focus on result is also supported in the view on internal organisation and leadership.

References

- Berry, C. M., Lievens, F., Zhang, C., & Sackett, P. R. (2024). Insights from an updated personnel selection meta-analytic matrix: Revisiting general mental ability tests' role in the validity–diversity trade-off. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 109(10), 1611-1634.
- Berry, C. M. (2024). Personnel selection systems and diversity. Current Opinion in Psychology, 101905.
- Burnett, L., & Aguinis, H. (2024). How to prevent and minimize DEI backfire. Business Horizons, 67(2), 173-182.
- Cervantez, J. A., & Milkman, K. L. (2024). Can nudges be leveraged to enhance diversity in organizations? A systematic review. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 101874.
- Cin, S., & Sönmez, B. (2024). The relationship between inclusive leadership and work engagement in hospital employees. *Psychology of Leaders and Leadership*, 27(1), 38.
- Dhanani, L. Y., Sultan, M., Pham, C. T., Mikami, K., Charles, D. R., & Crandell, H. A. (2024). Inclusion near and far: A qualitative investigation of inclusive organizational behavior across work modalities and social identities. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 45(9), 1413-1430.
- Eshete, S. K., & Birbirssa, Z. A. (2024). Strategic Human Resource Management (SHRM) in Creating Inclusive Workplace: Systematic Review. *SAGE Open*, 14(4), 21582440241287667.
- George, D., & Herndon, J. (2024). Diversity, equity, and inclusion: Evolving into belonging, dignity, and justice. *Families, systems & health: the journal of collaborative family healthcare, 42*(2), 292-297.
- Georgeac, O. A., & Rattan, A. (2023). The business case for diversity backfires: Detrimental effects of organizations' instrumental diversity rhetoric for underrepresented group members' sense of belonging. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 124(1), 69.
- Goya-Tocchetto, D., Kay, A. C., & Payne, B. K. (2024). Can selecting the most qualified candidate be unfair? Learning about socioeconomic advantages and disadvantages reduces the perceived fairness of meritocracy and increases support for socioeconomic diversity initiatives in organizations. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 153(12), 2962-2976.
- Heath, A. J., Carlsson, M., & Agerström, J. (2023). What adds to job ads? The impact of equality and diversity information on organizational attraction in minority and majority ethnic groups. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 96(4), 872-896.
- Hundschell, A., Backmann, J., Tian, A. W., & Hoegl, M. (2024). Leader inclusiveness and team resilience capacity in multinational teams: The role of organizational diversity climate. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*.
- Jabeen, G., Goli, G., Kafila, & Gobinath, R. (2024). A bibliometric review on gender equity in human resource management. *Future Business Journal*, *10*(1), 101.
- Jonsson, E. (2023a). Diversity Analysis. Gender distribution in the MU Selection process 2019 2021. MU Research Institute.
- Jonsson, E. (2023b). Research on Inclusion and Diversity Review 2020-2022. MU Research Institute.
- Kawasaki, S., & Zou, X. (2023). A meta-analytic evaluation of diversity training outcomes across cultures. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *17*(5), e12741.
- Li, X., Ling, C. D., & Zhu, J. (2024). Implications of inclusive leadership for individual employee outcomes: A meta-analytic investigation of the mediating mechanisms and boundary conditions. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 1-38.
- Legate, N., & Weinstein, N. (2024). Motivation science can improve diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) trainings. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17456916231186410.
- Leslie, L. M., Kim, Y. L., & Emily, R. Y. (2025). Diversity initiatives: Intended and unintended effects. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 101942.**
- Lucas, B.J., Berry, Z., Giurge, L.M., & Chugh, D. (2021). A longer shortlist increases the consideration of female candidates in maledominant domains. *Nat Human Behav*, *5*,736–742.
- Mercuri Urval (2022). MU Key Values and Principles.
- Nguyen, L. A., Evan, R., Chaudhuri, S., Hagen, M., & Williams, D. (2024). Inclusion in the workplace: an integrative literature review. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 48(3/4), 334-356.

- Nittrouer, C. L., Arena Jr, D., Silver, E. R., Avery, D. R., & Hebl, M. R. (2025). Despite the haters: The immense promise and progress of diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *46*(1), 188-201.
- Paluch, R. M., & Shum, V. (2023). The non-White standard: Racial bias in perceptions of diversity, equity, and inclusion leaders. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 109(7), 971-986.
- Randel, A. E. (2025). Inclusion in the workplace: A review and research agenda. *Group & Organization Management*, 50(1), 119-162."
- Ranta, M., & Ylinen, M. (2023). Board gender diversity and workplace diversity: a machine learning approach. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, *23*(5), 995-1018.
- Roberson, Q. M. (2006). Disentangling the meanings of diversity and inclusion in organizations. *Group & organization management*, 31(2), 212-236.
- Roberson, Q., Gerkin, E., & Hill, A. (2024). Diversity in top management teams and upper echelons of firms. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 101901.
- Rottman, C., Gardner, C., Liff, J., Mondragon, N., & Zuloaga, L. (2023). New strategies for addressing the diversity–validity dilemma with big data. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 108(9), 1425.
- Russen, M., & Dawson, M. (2023). Which should come first? Examining diversity, equity and inclusion. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *36*(1), 25-40.
- Sackett, P. R., Zhang, C., Berry, C. M., & Lievens, F. (2022). Revisiting meta-analytic estimates of validity in personnel selection: Addressing systematic overcorrection for restriction of range. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 107(11), 2040.
- Sackett, P. R., Zhang, C., Berry, C. M., & Lievens, F. (2023). Revisiting the design of selection systems in light of new findings regarding the validity of widely used predictors. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *16*(3), 283-300.
- Satzger, M., & Vogel, R. (2023). Do inclusive workplace policies foster employer attractiveness? Comparative evidence from an online employer review platform. *Public Personnel Management*, *52*(4), 566-589.
- Shafaei, A., & Nejati, M. (2024). Creating meaningful work for employees: The role of inclusive leadership. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 35(2), 189-211.
 - Shore, L. M., & Chung, B. G. (2024). Inclusion as a multi-level concept. Current Opinion in Psychology, 101910.
- Tonoyan, V., & Olson-Buchanan, J. (2023). Toward a multidimensional and multilevel approach to studying gender diversity in upper echelons and firm innovation. *Group & Organization Management*, 48(2), 705-752.
- Traylor, A. M., Dinh, J. V., Ng, L. C., Reyes, D. L., Cheng, S. K., Croitoru, N. C., & Salas, E. (2024). It's about the process, not the product: A meta-analytic investigation of team demographic diversity and processes. *Organizational Psychology Review*, *14*(3), 478-516.
- Van Iddekinge, C. H., Lievens, F., & Sackett, P. R. (2023). Personnel selection: A review of ways to maximize validity, diversity, and the applicant experience. *Personnel psychology*, 76(2), 651-686.
- Wee, S., Newman, D. A., & Su, R. (2023). Hiring on vocational interests to simultaneously improve validity and organizational diversity. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, *31*(4), 504-508.
- Woods, A., Zajac, S. A., Middleton, E. D., Cavanaugh, K. J., Hayes, W. C., Johnson, S. K., & Holladay, C. L. (2024). Doing the work: The role of inclusive leadership in promoting psychological safety and openness to diversity through diversity, equity, and inclusion practices. *Psychology of Leaders and Leadership*, 27(1), 115.
- Yourish, K., Daniel, A., Datar, S., White, I., & Gamio, L. (2025, March 7). These Words Are Disappearing in the New Trump Administration. The New York Times. <u>The Words Federal Agencies Are Discouraged From Using Under Trump The New York Times</u>
- Zattoni, A., Leventis, S., Van Ees, H., & De Masi, S. (2023). Board diversity's antecedents and consequences: A review and research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *34*(1), 101659.

^{*} Published online 2023

^{**} Published online 2024

